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Preface





In 1599 Elizabethans sent off an army to crush an Irish rebellion, weathered an armada threat from Spain, gambled on a fledgling East India Company and waited to see who would succeed their ageing and childless Queen. They also flocked to London’s playhouses, including the newly built Globe. It was at the theatre, noted Thomas Platter, a Swiss tourist who visited England and saw plays there in 1599, that ‘the English pass their time, learning at the play what is happening abroad’. England’s dramatists did not disappoint, especially Shakespeare, part-owner of the Globe, whose writing this year rose to a new and extraordinary level. In the course of 1599 Shakespeare completed Henry the Fifth, wrote Julius Caesar and As You Like It in quick succession, then drafted Hamlet. This book is about both what Shakespeare achieved and what Elizabethans experienced this year. The two are nearly inextricable: it’s no more possible to talk about Shakespeare’s plays independently of his age than it is to grasp what his society went through without the benefit of Shakespeare’s insights. He and his fellow players truly were, in Hamlet’s fine phrase, the ‘abstract and brief chronicles of the time’ (II, ii, 524).


The commonplace that dramatists are best understood in relation to their time would go unquestioned if the writer in question were Euripides, Ibsen or Beckett. But only recently has the tide begun to turn against a view of Shakespeare as a poet who transcends his age, who wrote, as Samuel Coleridge put it, ‘exactly as if of another planet’. The impulse to lift Shakespeare out of time and place was greatly enabled by the decision of Shakespeare’s first editors to present his plays out of chronological order. The First Folio of 1623 was put together by John Heminges and Henry Condell, who had worked alongside Shakespeare since the mid-1590s. Having spent most of their adult lives performing in Shakespeare’s plays, they knew the sequence in which all but the earliest of them had been written. But they nonetheless decided to shoehorn them into the categories of Comedies, Histories, and Tragedies (which made for a very uncomfortable fit for ‘tragedies’ like Cymbeline and Troilus and Cressida). Even within these categories they ignored the order in which the plays were written, so that, for instance, the late great play The Tempest is the lead comedy in the First Folio.


Their decision also made the question of how Shakespeare developed as a writer much harder to answer. Over a century and a half would pass before Edmond Malone, the first scholar to tackle this question, even tried to establish the ‘progress and order’ of Shakespeare’s plays; and to this day there is no scholarly consensus about the dates or sequence of a number of the plays, especially the early ones. Imagining Shakespeare free of time and place has made it easier to accept Ben Jonson’s assertion that Shakespeare was ‘not of an age, but for all time’ and to forget that Jonson also called his great rival the ‘Soul of the age’, whose plays captivated Elizabethan playgoers. For Jonson, the two claims weren’t mutually exclusive: Shakespeare’s appeal is universal precisely because he saw so deeply into the great questions of his day. Shakespeare himself certainly thought of his art in this way: the ‘purpose of playing’, he wrote in Hamlet, is to ‘show … the very age and body of the time his form and pressure’ (III, ii, 20–24).


Those who sever Shakespeare from his age do so because there is both too much and too little to know about the man and his times – too much, because the richness of Shakespeare’s creative life during the quarter-century from 1588 to 1613 is impossible to contain in a single volume or a single critical intelligence. Who can claim to fathom what’s at stake in every one of Shakespeare’s works? Nobody, surely, has ever mastered the hundreds of chronicles, plays, poems and stories that inspired him. And the amount of information that historians have uncovered about life in Shakespeare’s England is daunting. They’ve shown that Elizabethan culture ought to matter a great deal to us, for we’ve inherited its conflicting views of everything from the nature of the self and sexuality to nationhood and empire. Too little, because we don’t know very much about what kind of friend or lover or person Shakespeare was. This in turn, has opened the door to those who deny that Shakespeare wrote his plays and attribute them instead to Christopher Marlowe or Francis Bacon, or the latest candidate, the Earl of Oxford. It’s unfortunate, because even if we don’t know much about his personality, we know a great deal about Shakespeare’s career as a writer (more than enough to persuade a reasonable sceptic that he wrote his plays himself ). We’d know a lot more about his life had one of the seventeenth-century antiquarians interested in Shakespeare bothered to speak with his younger daughter, Judith, who was still alive in 1662, nearly half a century after Shakespeare died in 1616. One of those antiquarians, John Ward, even made a note in his diary reminding himself to call on her in Stratford-upon-Avon, but she died shortly thereafter, and with her, a direct and intimate sense of the kind of man Shakespeare was.


At the heart of this book is the familiar desire to understand how Shakespeare became Shakespeare. The time-honoured way biographers have gone about answering this question is to locate the wellspring of Shakespeare’s genius in his formative experiences. This is risky enough when writing the lives of modern authors like Virginia Woolf or Sylvia Plath, whose biographers have piles of correspondence, diaries and photographs to sift through. It’s nearly impossible with Shakespeare, who left behind neither letters nor diaries. And the only two authentic portraits of Shakespeare to survive are posthumous. They depict a modestly dressed and serious man of medium build, with dark hair, full lips, large attentive eyes, a long straight nose and an unusually large forehead. But neither the engraving on the title page of the First Folio nor the funeral monument that still stands in Stratford’s church – in which he looks more like an accountant than an artist – offers much of a window into Shakespeare’s soul. If Shakespeare had a say in this funeral monument, he may have been responsible for its most salient feature, ensuring that he be remembered as an author: under his left hand is a sheet of paper and in his right one, poised to write, a quill. The overwhelming desire for a more expressive Shakespeare, a truer portrait of the artist, explains why paintings of impostors who more closely resemble the Shakespeare of our imagination now hang in the National Portrait Gallery and elsewhere and are the ones we find reproduced on everything from coffee mugs to editions of his works.


Biographers can only guess how Shakespeare felt about his mother, father, brothers, sisters, neighbours, friends, schoolmates or employers, or, for that matter, how and even where he spent his adolescence or the crucial ‘lost years’ between his departure from Stratford and his arrival in London. Those committed to discovering the adult Shakespeare’s personality in his formative experiences end up hunting for hints in the plays which they then read back into what little can be surmised about his early years (and since the plays contain almost every kind of relationship and experience imaginable, this is not as hard to do as it sounds). But the plays are not two-way mirrors: while Shakespeare perfectly renders what it feels like to be in love, betrayed or crushingly disappointed, it doesn’t necessarily follow, as one nineteenth-century critic put it, that he ‘must have loved unhappily like Romeo, and like Hamlet not have known for a time what to get on with next’.


Circularity and arbitrariness are only part of the problem: cradle-to-grave biographers of Shakespeare tend to assume that what makes people who they are now made people who they were then. Historians of sixteenth-century England are not so sure. Because almost nobody thought to write a memoir or keep a personal diary in Shakespeare’s day – revealing enough facts in themselves – we don’t know whether their emotional lives were like ours. Their formative years certainly weren’t. Strangers breastfed infants and babies were often swaddled for their first year. Childhood was brief and most adolescents, rich and poor, were sent from home to live and serve in other households. Plague, death in childbirth, harvest failures, and high infant-mortality rates may have diminished the intensity of family bonds. And these bonds didn’t last as long: people lived, on the average, until their mid-forties (only one of Shakespeare’s seven brothers and sisters made it past forty-six). Eldest sons like Shakespeare inherited all, creating friction among siblings.


Even such constants as love and marriage weren’t the same. The idea of marrying for love was fairly new. Though life was shorter, most Elizabethan men and women delayed marriage until their mid-twenties (and a surprising proportion, including Shakespeare’s three brothers, never married at all). Given the extremely low illegitimacy rates at the time, desire must have either been sublimated or found an outlet in non-procreative sex – perhaps both. Even the meaning of key concepts, such as what constitutes an ‘individual’, was different. Writers, including Shakespeare, were only beginning to speak of individuality in the modern sense of ‘distinctiveness’ or ‘specialness’, the exact opposite of what it had long meant: ‘inseparability’. Given that this was an age of faith, or at the least one in which church attendance was mandatory, religion too played a greater role in shaping how life, death, and the afterlife were imagined. All this suggests that, much as we might want Shakespeare to have been like us, he wasn’t. Conventional biographies of Shakespeare are necessary fictions that will always be with us – less for what they tell us about Shakespeare’s life than for what they reveal about our fantasies of who we want Shakespeare to be.


I have no illusion that I can elude the dangers of circularity or arbitrariness, but I’ve tried my best to avoid their excesses by focusing on what can be known with greater confidence: the ‘form and pressure’ of the time that shaped Shakespeare’s writing when he was thirty-five years old. I can’t report what Shakespeare ate or drank or how he dressed, but I can establish some of the things he did this year that were crucial to his career, what he read and wrote, which actors and playwrights he worked with and what was going on around him that fuelled his imagination. Throughout, I try to be especially cautious when advancing claims about how Shakespeare might have felt – knowing that, except through the distorting lens of what he expressed through his characters or the speaker of his sonnets, we have no access to his feelings. Still, I hope to capture some of the unpredictable and contingent nature of daily life too often flattened out in historical and biographical works of greater sweep. I’m also aware that neither lives nor history come sliced in neat one-year packages (and that even the question of when the year was thought to begin and end in Tudor England isn’t easily answered). Inevitably, I end up focusing more on things that can be dated, such as political and literary events, than on more gradual and less perceptible historical shifts – though, because Shakespeare’s plays are remarkably alert to many of these, I do my best to attend to them as well.


I’ve chosen to write about 1599 not only because it was an unusually fraught and exciting year but also because, as critics have long recognized, it was a decisive one, perhaps the decisive one, in Shakespeare’s development as a writer (and, happily, one from which a surprising amount of information about his professional life survives). My interest in this subject dates back fifteen years. At that time, though I was familiar with Shakespeare’s plays and taught them regularly, I didn’t know enough about the historical moment in which plays like As You Like It and Hamlet were written and which they engaged. I had no idea, for example, that England braced itself for an invasion in the summer of 1599, knew almost nothing about why English troops were fighting in Ireland, or about how rigorously the government cracked down at this time on histories, satires and sermons. I was unaware that one of the best-selling books of 1599 was ‘The Passionate Pilgrim by W. Shakespeare’. I knew less than I should have known about how Shakespeare travelled to and from Stratford or about the bookstalls and playhouses that he frequented in London (and it was only after I began working on this book that the foundations of the Globe and Rose theatres were rediscovered). I was woefully informed about the worlds lost to Shakespeare: England’s recent Catholic past, the deforested landscape of his native Arden, and a rapidly fading chivalric culture. My ignorance extended beyond history. Along with other scholars, I didn’t fully grasp how extensively Shakespeare revised and what these changes revealed about the kind of writer he was. And my notion of the sources of Shakespeare’s inspiration was too bookish. It was one thing to know what Shakespeare was reading, another to know about what sermons he may have heard or what art he viewed in the royal palaces of Whitehall and Richmond where he regularly performed.


This work, then, grew out of frustration with how much I didn’t know and frustration with scholars of all critical denominations who never quite got around to addressing the question I found most pressing: how, at age thirty-five, Shakespeare went from being an exceptionally talented writer to being one of the greatest who ever lived – put another way: how in the course of little over a year he went from writing The Merry Wives of Windsor to writing a play as inspired as Hamlet.


In search of answers I was fortunate to have access to the archives where the literary treasures of Elizabethan England have been preserved – especially the Folger Shakespeare Library in Washington, DC, the Huntington Library in San Marino, California, and the British Library (at both its old and new London addresses). Over time, I had a chance to read almost all of the books written in 1599 that Shakespeare might have owned or borrowed or come upon in London’s bookstalls. My focus on a single year has also allowed me to reflect on the events of that year – recorded in contemporary letters, sermons, plays, poems, diaries, travellers’ accounts, and official records – that had a bearing on Shakespeare’s life and work. While I also read unpublished materials, I tried to focus on what Shakespeare’s contemporaries could have put their hands on. I found myself as interested in rumours as in facts, in what Elizabethans feared or believed as much as in what historians later decided really happened. This book is the result of those labours. It has brought me closer to understanding Shakespeare, and for that alone, it has been worth it.


My hope is that the story offered in these pages can convey a sense of how deeply Shakespeare’s work emerged from an engagement with his times. To arrive at that point, though, means recounting a good deal of social and political history. I’ve done my best to present this context briefly and accessibly, but I recognize that some may find the early chapters slow going. I beg the indulgence of those eager to learn more about how Shakespeare wrote his plays but impatient with a series of forced marches through terrain as varied as the gardens of Whitehall Palace and the bogs of Ulster. As in Shakespeare’s plays, a scene or two must pass before the hero takes centre stage. And, grounded as my claims are in what scholars have uncovered, a good deal of what I make of that information remains speculative. When writing about an age that pre-dated newspapers and photographic evidence, plausibility, not certitude, is as close as one can come to what happened. Rather than awkwardly littering the pages that follow with one hedge after another – ‘perhaps’, ‘maybe’, ‘it’s most likely’, ‘probably’, or the most desperate of them all, ‘surely’ – I’d like to offer one global qualification here: this is necessarily my reconstruction of what happened to Shakespeare in the course of this year and when I do qualify a claim it signals that the evidence is inconclusive or the argument highly speculative. Readers interested in the historical sources on which I rely will find them in the bibliographical essay at the end of the book.


The Shakespeare who emerges in these pages is less a Shakespeare in Love than a Shakespeare at Work. When the seventeenth-century biographer John Aubrey asked those who were acquainted with Shakespeare what they remembered about him, he was told that Shakespeare ‘was not a company keeper’, and that he ‘wouldn’t be debauched, and, if invited’, excused himself, saying ‘he was in pain’. The image of Shakespeare turning down invitations to carouse with such a lame excuse has a strong ring of truth, and the anecdote reveals as much as we are likely to learn about the value Shakespeare placed on the time he had free to write. As a resident playwright as well as actor in the Chamberlain’s Men, a playing company that performed nearly year-round, most of Shakespeare’s mornings were taken up with rehearsals, his afternoons with performances, and many of his evenings with company business, such as listening to freelance dramatists pitch new plays to add to the repertory. He had precious few hours late at night and early in the morning free to read and write – often by flickering candlelight and fighting fatigue. If Shakespeare was in love in 1599, it was with words. What follows, then, is a writer’s life: what Shakespeare read, wrote, performed and saw published, and what was going on in England and beyond its shores that shaped plays which four hundred years later continue to influence how we make sense of the world.






















[image: ]

Detail of Southwark and the Globe Theatre – the Globe is on the left, wrongly labelled ‘Beere bayting’








Prologue





The weather in London in December 1598 had been frigid – so cold that ten days before New Year the Thames was nearly frozen over at London Bridge. It thawed just before Christmas, and hardy playgoers flocked to the outdoor Rose playhouse in Southwark in record numbers. But the weather turned freezing cold again on St John’s Day, the 27th, and a great snowstorm blanketed London on 28 December.


As the snow fell, a dozen or so armed men gathered in Shoreditch, in London’s northern suburbs. Instead of the clubs usually wielded in London’s street brawls or apprentice riots, they carried deadly weapons – ‘swords, daggers, bills, axes, and such like’. Other than the Tower of London, which housed England’s arsenal, about the only places to come by some of the larger weapons were the public theatres, where they were used to give a touch of realism to staged combat. In all likelihood, these weapons were borrowed from the Curtain playhouse, near Finsbury Field, temporary home of the Chamberlain’s Men.


The armed men didn’t have far to go. Their destination was another playhouse in Shoreditch, the nearby Theatre. The Theatre, built in 1576, was London’s oldest and most celebrated playhouse, nursery of the great drama of Thomas Kyd, Christopher Marlowe and Shakespeare. It was here, a few years earlier, that audiences had heard ‘the Ghost who cried so miserably at the Theatre like an oyster-wife, “Hamlet, revenge!”’ (not Shakespeare’s play, but an earlier, now lost Hamlet). As the men approached the hulking building, the Theatre itself must have seemed a ghostly presence, vacant now for two years in the aftermath of a fall-out between the Chamberlain’s Men and their prickly landlord, Giles Allen. Local residents, seeing the armed troupe approach, may well have been confused about what was happening during this week of holiday revels, for at the head of the group was the leading tragedian in England, the charismatic star of the Chamberlain’s Men, Richard Burbage. But this was no impromptu piece of street theatre. Burbage, his older brother Cuthbert and the rest of the men bearing weapons were there in deadly earnest, about to trespass and take back what they considered rightfully theirs and, if necessary, come to blows with anyone trying to stop them.


The Chamberlain’s Men were in trouble and the only way out was to get in a bit deeper. Things had begun to go wrong two years earlier, when James Burbage (Richard and Cuthbert’s father and the man who had built the Theatre) had decided to build an indoor stage in the wealthy London neighbourhood of Blackfriars. The venue would have enabled his son Richard and the other shareholders of the Chamberlain’s Men to act year-round for a more upmarket and better-paying clientele, providing more security than they had at the Theatre, where the lease was expiring. James Burbage had sunk the considerable sum of £600 into the venture. As the Blackfriars theatre neared completion, influential neighbours who were worried about the noise and riff-raff that the theatre might attract had succeeded in having playing banned there. James Burbage had died soon after, having also failed to renegotiate an extension on his lease at the Theatre. His sons Richard and Cuthbert had no better luck changing Giles Allen’s mind. With the Burbages’ capital tied up at Blackfriars and the Theatre now in Allen’s hands, the Chamberlain’s Men, lacking a permanent playing space, were in danger of becoming homeless.


By early December Richard Burbage had quietly approached five of his fellow actor-shareholders in the company – William Shakespeare, John Heminges, Augustine Phillips, Thomas Pope and Will Kemp – with a plan. The first thing they needed to do was find a new site for a theatre, one that was accessible to London’s playgoers but outside the city limits (where playhouses weren’t subject to the authority of the often hostile city fathers). Members of the company, probably Heminges and Condell, who lived in the parish of St Mary Aldermanbury, had learned that a neighbour, Sir Nicholas Brend, was looking to rent some land in Southwark. The property was a stone’s throw from the Rose theatre, home of their main rivals, the Admiral’s Men. The Chamberlain’s Men quickly came to terms with Brend, securing an inexpensive thirty-one-year lease which was theirs from Christmas Day. The transaction was rushed and it wasn’t until late February that the paperwork was completed.


They now had a building site but as yet no theatre. In the past, when they had provided a playhouse and covered the lease, the Burbages had kept the lion’s share of the profits. No longer able to supply the company with a permanent home, Richard and Cuthbert Burbage made an unprecedented offer: they would secure the building materials for a new playhouse, worth roughly £700, if the five actor-shareholders would each cover ten per cent of the remaining construction costs as well as the expenses of running the theatre. The material would come from the dismantled Theatre, the pieces of its frame carefully marked and reassembled on Bankside. They’d still have to do it on the cheap: no tiles on the roof, as at the Theatre, just inexpensive (and flammable) thatch. In exchange, and for the first time in the history of the professional theatre in London, actor-sharers would be part-owners of the playhouse as well as partners in the company, the five men each receiving ten per cent of the total profits. The potential yield on their investment would be great – over £100 a year. Still, that initial investment – roughly £70 each – was considerable at a time when a freelance dramatist earned just £6 a play and a day-labourer £10 a year. The risks were also great. Few had that kind of cash on hand, which meant taking out loans at steep interest rates (the Burbages later complained that it took them years to pay off what they borrowed to cover their share). Plague might once again close the public theatres for an extended period. Fire might destroy the playhouse (as it would in 1613, when the Globe’s thatch caught fire). Or the Privy Council might finally act on one of its periodic threats and close the theatres.


What made the risky plan plausible was that Richard and Cuthbert Burbage knew that their father had been astute enough to put a clause in the original lease stating that while Giles Allen owned the land, Burbage owned the theatre he built on it. But since the lease had expired, a strong case could be made that the building was no longer theirs. It was a commonplace, which Shakespeare himself had recently repeated in The Merry Wives of Windsor, that you’re likely to lose your ‘edifice’ when you build ‘a fair house … on another man’s ground’ (II, ii, 207–8). Allen, litigious, well connected, and brother of a former Lord Mayor, was not a man to be trifled with. But what alternative was there?


The Chamberlain’s Men didn’t have much time. They knew that Allen was away for the Christmas holidays at his country home in Essex. They had also heard that Allen was preparing to dismantle the building and keep its valuable timber for himself. If that happened, they’d be ruined. They certainly had to act before word of their new lease got out. They had performed before Queen Elizabeth at Whitehall Palace on 26 December (the day after their new lease went into effect) and were expected again at court on New Year’s Day. Assuming that the job would probably take more than a day, they were left with a very narrow window. The snow and cold were unfortunate, and would make the work misery for the carpenters handling the frozen timber, but that couldn’t be helped.


When the armed group arrived at the playhouse they set to work immediately. Even with an early start there wouldn’t be much daylight; the sun had risen that morning after eight and would set before four in the afternoon. It was four days short of a full moon, but with the snow coming down there was little prospect of working by moonlight. According to evidence submitted in the heated legal battle that followed, their appearance quickly drew a crowd – friends and tenants of Allen as well as supporters of the Chamberlain’s Men, including Ellen Burbage, James’s feisty widow. And we can be pretty sure that the other shareholders whose livelihoods were at stake – Shakespeare, Phillips, Heminges, Kemp and Pope – were at the scene as well, among the unnamed ‘diverse other persons’ accompanying the Burbages.


Outmanned, a couple of Giles Allen’s friends, one with power of attorney, tried to stop the trespassers – to no avail. A silk weaver named Henry Johnson demanded that they stop dismantling the playhouse, but was put off by Peter Street, the master-builder who had been brought in to supervise the job. Street explained that he was only taking the pegged vertical posts and horizontal ground-sills apart in order to put them together again ‘in another form’ on the same site. Johnson, who was privy to the failed negotiations over the lease, probably knew better, but he backed off. By the time they were done, the workers had made a mess of the place, causing forty shillings’ worth of damage.


Of all those gathered at the Theatre that day, none stood to gain or lose as much as Shakespeare. Had the escapade failed, had Allen been forewarned or had he succeeded in his subsequent court battle against the seizure, Shakespeare’s alternatives would have been limited. It’s hard to see how the Chamberlain’s Men could have survived for long as an ensemble without a permanent playhouse – and their arrangement at the aging Curtain was only temporary. The only other available venue was the Swan theatre, built in 1595 in Paris Garden on Bankside. But the authorities had prohibited permanent playing there after 1597, following the staging of a scandalous play, The Isle of Dogs. Of course, Shakespeare could have continued writing plays as a freelancer, as others did, but the pay was modest. At best, he might have offered some plays as capital and joined his competitors, the Admiral’s Men, as shareholder and chief dramatist, if they would have him on those terms.


Shakespeare understood that more was at stake in rescuing those old oak posts than his livelihood as a playwright. He was not simply England’s most experienced living dramatist, author of (or collaborator on) roughly eighteen plays, including such favourites as Richard the Third, Romeo and Juliet and The First Part of Henry the Fourth; he also wrote for and acted alongside its most talented ensemble of players. The Chamberlain’s Men had been together for five years, having emerged out of the remnants of broken and reconfigured companies, its players drawn from among the best of those who had recently performed with Sussex, Derby, Pembroke, Strange and the Queen’s Men. Shakespeare himself had probably been affiliated with Pembroke’s, or Strange’s, perhaps both. Companies in the early 1590s formed, merged, and dissolved so rapidly, with plays migrating from one group of players to the next, that it is impossible to track Shakespeare’s affiliations at this time with confidence. There were considerable advantages to a company’s longevity. Since their formation in 1594 it’s likely that the Chamberlain’s Men had already collaborated on close to a hundred plays, almost a fifth of them Shakespeare’s. When Shakespeare sat down to write a play it was with the capabilities of this accomplished group in mind. Hamlet would not have been the same if Shakespeare had not written the title role for Richard Burbage. Comic roles were scripted for Will Kemp’s improvisational clowning. Augustine Phillips and George Bryan had been acting professionally for over a decade; Thomas Pope, who excelled at comic roles, even longer. Henry Condell, Will Sly, John Duke, John Holland and Christopher Beeston were also veteran performers and helped round out this all-star cast. The degree of trust and of mutual understanding (all the more important in a company that dispensed with a director) was extraordinary. For a dramatist – let alone a fellow player, as Shakespeare was – the break-up of such a group would have been an incalculable loss.


As darkness fell on 28 December, the old frame of the Theatre, loaded onto wagons, with horses slipping and straining from the burden of hauling the long half-ton, foot-square oak posts, began to make its way south through streets carpeted with snow. The wagons headed through Bishopsgate and south-west to Peter Street’s waterfront warehouse near Bridewell Stairs, where the timber was unloaded and safely stacked and stored. The popular story of the dismantled frame being drawn across or over the Thames (which was ‘nigh frozen over’) to the future building site is a fantasy: it would have been too risky sledding the heavy load across thin ice and the steep tolls on London Bridge for wheelage and poundage would have been prohibitive; and had the timber been left exposed to the elements through the winter months at the marshy site of the Globe, it could have been warped beyond repair (if not subject to a counter-raid by Giles Allen’s friends). Not until the foundations were ready would the frame of the Theatre be ferried across the Thames to Southwark, where by late summer, phoenix-like, it would be resurrected as the Globe.




*





On the eve of the dismantling of the Theatre, Shakespeare stood at a professional crossroads. It had been five years since he had last found himself in such a situation. At that time he was torn between pursuing a career in the theatre and one in which he sought advancement by securing aristocratic patronage through his published poetry. For a while he had done both, but the rewards of patronage (he had fulsomely dedicated two published poems, Venus and Adonis and Lucrece, to the young and charismatic Earl of Southampton) either didn’t materialize or proved unsatisfying. Theatre won out, though Shakespeare kept writing sonnets, which he didn’t care to publish but shared with his friends. After joining the Chamberlain’s Men in 1594, Shakespeare hit his stride in the next two years with a great burst of innovative plays: A Midsummer Night’s Dream, Love’s Labour’s Lost, Romeo and Juliet, King John, Richard the Second, The Merchant of Venice and The First Part of Henry the Fourth.


By the end of 1596, however, following one of his most successful efforts, The First Part of Henry the Fourth, this creative surge diminished and his range contracted. Over the next two years he seems to have only written three plays: a second part to Henry the Fourth and two comedies, The Merry Wives of Windsor and the witty Much Ado about Nothing. Will Kemp figured prominently in these plays as Falstaff in the two parts of Henry the Fourth and the Merry Wives, and then as the bumbling constable Dogberry in Much Ado. These were popular plays and Kemp a crowd-pleaser. But Shakespeare was aware that he had nearly exhausted the rich veins of romantic comedy and English history. He was restless, unsatisfied with the profitably formulaic and with styles of writing that came too easily to him, but hadn’t yet figured out what new directions to take; and that depended on more than inspiration or will. Unlike his sonnet-writing, his play-writing was constrained by the needs of his fellow players as well as the expectations of audiences both at the public playhouse and at court – demands that often pulled him in opposite directions.


Shakespeare was not alone in experiencing something of a creative hiatus at this time (if three fine plays in two years can be considered a falling-off ). This was not the most auspicious moment in the history of the Elizabethan stage. One could point to the relative dearth of exceptional dramatists, the pressure by authorities to curb playgoing, and the periodic closing of the theatres because of plague. During these years England also suffered terrible harvests and renewed threats of invasion from Spain. By 1597 a generation of ground-breaking playwrights – including John Lyly, Thomas Kyd, Christopher Marlowe, George Peele and Robert Greene – had passed from the scene and members of a younger generation (whose ranks included Ben Jonson, Thomas Dekker and Thomas Heywood) were only beginning to find their voices. In the course of a few short years Shakespeare had gone from ‘upstart crow’ (Robert Greene’s jealous and belittling label) to grizzled veteran, and was virtually alone in straddling these two generations of playwrights. As an artist who thrived on rivalry and whose work is characterized by an unequalled capacity to absorb the styles and techniques of his fellow writers, Shakespeare seems to have needed competition to push him to the next level, and in 1597 and 1598 there wasn’t enough of it.


The scarcity of recently staged plays on London’s bookstalls was further evidence that 1597–8 were relatively lean years. Yet Londoners’ craving for theatre had never been greater. In addition to the Chamberlain’s Men at the Curtain and the Admiral’s Men at the Rose, there were a score of itinerant companies touring through the English countryside, some no doubt performing in London while passing through town, either at inns or at the Swan. By 1600, in response to popular demand, entrepreneurs had rushed to build permanent new theatres around the city, including the Globe, the Fortune, and the Boar’s Head Inn, while resident children’s companies began playing at St Paul’s and Blackfriars. In 1600, in an England of four million, London and its immediate environs held a population of roughly two hundred thousand. If, on any given day, two plays were staged in playhouses that held as many as two to three thousand spectators each, it’s likely that with theatres even half-full, as many as three thousand or so Londoners were attending a play. Over the course of a week – conservatively assuming five days of performances each week – fifteen thousand Londoners paid to see a play. Obviously, some never went at all, or rarely, while others – including young and generally well-to-do law students at the Inns of Court – made up for that, seeing dozens of plays a year; but on average, it’s likely that over a third of London’s adult population saw a play every month.


Which meant that Shakespeare and his fellow dramatists were writing for the most experienced playgoers in history. Unlike modern theatres, in which actors perform the same play for weeks, months, even years, in Elizabethan playhouses the play changed daily, with resident companies introducing as many as a score of new plays annually and supplementing them with revivals of old favourites. Unsuccessful plays disappeared from the repertory after only a handful of performances. Shakespeare could count on an unusually discriminating audience, one sensitive to subtle transformations of popular genres like romantic comedy and revenge tragedy. But the pressure that he and his fellow playwrights were under to churn out one innovative and entertaining play after another must have proved exhausting.


It’s no surprise, then, that playwriting at the close of the sixteenth century was a young man’s game. None of the men who wrote plays for a living in 1599 were over forty years old. They had come from London and the countryside, from the Inns of Court, the universities, and various trades. About the only thing these writers had in common was that they were all from the middling classes. There were about fifteen of them at work in 1599 and they knew each other and each others’ writing styles well: George Chapman, Henry Chettle, John Day, Thomas Dekker, Michael Drayton, Richard Hathaway, William Haughton, Thomas Heywood, Ben Jonson, John Marston, Anthony Munday, Henry Porter, Robert Wilson and, of course, Shakespeare. Collectively this year they wrote about sixty plays, of which only a dozen or so survive, a quarter of these Shakespeare’s. Their names – though not Shakespeare’s – can be found in the pages of an extraordinary volume called Henslowe’s Diary, a ledger or account book belonging to Philip Henslowe, owner of the Rose theatre, in which he recorded his business activities, mostly theatrical, from 1592 to 1609. The Diary is a mine of information. Henslowe’s entries tell us the titles of lost plays, what playwrights were paid, and who collaborated with whom. Other entries list gate receipts, expenditures for costumes and props, and in some instances on which days particular plays were performed.


About half of all plays this year were co-authored, with two, three or more playwrights writing collaboratively, each handling the parts or scenes at which he excelled. Shakespeare co-authored several plays near the outset and end of his career, but in 1599 he wrote alone. While other playwrights had both their mornings and afternoons free to write and engage in collaborative ventures, Shakespeare’s at this time were spent fulfilling his company obligations – rehearsing and performing alongside his fellow sharers, hired men and apprenticed boy actors. The only other dramatist in his situation was Thomas Heywood, who was currently under contract to act for the Admiral’s Men (though he wrote for a number of companies). In a career otherwise rich in collaboration, this year Heywood also wrote alone.


A closer look at Henslowe’s Diary also suggests that some writing teams left the services of the Admiral’s Men for extended stretches and wrote for another company, almost certainly the Chamberlain’s Men. For example, three of the Admiral’s Men’s regulars – Anthony Munday, Robert Wilson, and Richard Hathaway – mysteriously drop from Henslowe’s payroll in August 1598; and they were joined by Michael Drayton in the early winter of 1599. Not until the autumn of 1599 would they all suddenly return to the Admiral’s Men with a play called Sir John Oldcastle – a provocative send-up of Shakespeare’s controversial portrait of the Lollard martyr in his two-part Henry the Fourth. While records don’t survive of who provided most of the twenty or so new plays that Shakespeare’s company staged this year, it’s likely that writers who were off Henslowe’s payroll for extended periods were responsible for such Chamberlain’s Men’s offerings as Owen Tudor and Henry Richmond, and perhaps A Larum for London and Thomas Lord Cromwell as well. By autumn 1599, with the establishment of new playing companies at the Boar’s Head Inn, Paul’s, and Blackfriars, it increasingly became a seller’s market: as opportunities for these freelance dramatists expanded, even more of them were drawn to writing for more than a single company.


Given the intimate working relationships between playwrights (and between playwrights and players), personality clashes were inevitable. It didn’t help matters that many Elizabethan actors were skilled fencers. Just the previous September, Ben Jonson had quarrelled with Gabriel Spencer, a rising star (and shareholder) in the Admiral’s Men, and, in the ensuing duel near the Curtain, killed him. Jonson, who was briefly imprisoned, only escaped hanging by reading his ‘neck verse’ – a legal loophole dating from medieval times whereby the literate were spared the gallows by reading from the Bible in Latin, a task easy enough for the classically trained Jonson. But he did not escape unscathed: Jonson was branded with a ‘T’ for Tyburn, Elizabethan London’s site of execution, on his thumb. The next time he committed a felony he would hang there. Spencer was no stranger to violence, having two years earlier stabbed to death James Feake, who had come at him with a candlestick. His fatal encounter with Jonson took place the very month when Jonson’s first play for the Chamberlain’s Men – Every Man In His Humour – was performed at the Curtain. Ironically, at the time of their quarrel Spencer was probably learning his part in Jonson’s collaborative (and, in retrospect, ironically titled) play for the Admiral’s Men, Hot Anger Soon Cold. And in June 1599 Henry Porter came to blows with fellow playwright John Day in Southwark. Day drew his rapier and killed Porter. The cause of their fight is also unknown; jurors found Day guilty of manslaughter, not murder. Day was subsequently pardoned and resumed writing for the Admiral’s Men, mostly in collaboration with Dekker, Chettle and Haughton, who either accepted Day’s version of the fight or put professional needs above loyalty to a former writing partner. Ben Jonson, who had also worked with Porter, was less forgiving, and classed Day among the ‘rogues’ and ‘base fellows’.


London’s civic leaders didn’t share the popular enthusiasm for the rough-and-tumble world of theatre. Their view of things is offered in a petition submitted to the Privy Council in the summer of 1597 requesting that London’s playhouses be closed. What was staged there, they argued, was immoral (‘containing nothing but profane fables, lascivious matters, cozening devices, and scurrilous behaviours’) and the audience itself a collection of misfits (‘vagrant persons, masterless men, thieves, horse stealers, whore-mongerers, cozeners, coney-catchers, contrivers of treason, and other idle and dangerous persons’). But the city fathers could do little about it, since the playing companies were patronized by influential aristocrats, including members of the Privy Council (after the Queen, the most powerful political body in the realm). It must have come as something of a shock to the resident acting companies to learn at this time that the Privy Council had decided to act against them, ordering ‘that not only no plays shall be used within London or about the City or in any public place during this time of summer, but that also those playhouses that are erected and built only for such purposes shall be plucked down’. If the order had been carried out it might have meant the end of the Elizabethan public theatre. The likeliest explanation – and one believed by the players themselves – is that this harsh response was prompted by the scandal created by The Isle of Dogs. By early October those imprisoned for their role in that play were released and the playing companies allowed to resume regular playing (except at the Swan). But the episode unnerved the playing companies, reminding them how vulnerable their situation was in London and how easily their expensive theatres could be knocked down (the Privy Council was quite explicit about the demolition order, specifying that those responsible for tearing down the theatres ‘deface the same as they may not be employed again to such use’). The Isle of Dogs affair gives a sharp sense of the heightened sensitivity to how political topics were staged.


For Shakespeare and his fellow Chamberlain’s Men, 1597–8 was not the best of times. In addition to their troubles at the Theatre and Blackfriars, they endured the deaths of James Burbage and of their patron Henry Carey, the Lord Chamberlain (whose son, George Carey, succeeded him as their patron, and later as Lord Chamberlain as well). They also lost the services of two leading players, the veteran performer and sharer George Bryan (acknowledged in the First Folio as one of the ‘principal actors’ in Shakespeare’s plays) and Samuel Cross (whose talents were still affectionately recalled over a decade later). The rough stretch had begun a year earlier, in the summer of 1596, when an outbreak of plague had briefly closed the theatres. To earn money, Shakespeare and his fellow actors had abandoned London and taken to the road, touring through south-west England and playing before provincial audiences, with recorded stops in Faversham, Dover and Bath. For Shakespeare himself, this period would bring terrible news.


It was either while on the road or immediately upon his return from the tour that took the company to Faversham, in August 1596, that word reached Shakespeare of the death of his only son, Hamnet, who was buried in Stratford-upon-Avon on 11 August. It could not have been easy for Anne Shakespeare to contact her itinerant husband to convey the news of Hamnet’s illness and death – it would have taken a messenger from Stratford four or five days at least just to find Shakespeare – so it’s unlikely that he learned of his son’s demise in time to return home for his funeral. Unlike Ben Jonson, who left such a touching poem on the death of his young son and namesake Benjamin, Shakespeare left no testimonial for Hamnet. But then, unlike Jonson, Shakespeare lived at a great distance from his family, returning home infrequently. Hamnet and his twin sister Judith had been baptized on 2 February 1585, born two years after their elder sister Susanna. By the end of the 1580s Shakespeare had left his wife and three young children behind in Stratford to seek his fortune in London. He may have barely known his son, which is not to say that he did not feel his loss deeply. It may even have accounted for his diminished output in the year or so that followed. We just don’t know.




 *





The invitation to become part-owner of a new theatre on Bankside came at a critical moment in Shakespeare’s career. And the venture would play a major role in the redirection of his art. The Globe offered Shakespeare a fresh start, the possibility of writing for a new set of playgoers with as yet unhardened expectations, unlike those who had been frequenting the Theatre and Curtain for so many years. Since at least 1596 – when James Burbage had tried and failed to move the company to a theatre that catered to a more privileged audience – the sharers of the Chamberlain’s Men had been divided over what kind of audience they wanted to attract. Some, like the comic star Will Kemp, were deeply invested in the traditions of popular entertainment of the theatres of the northern suburbs. For other sharers – and their ranks included Shakespeare, who was most constrained by these conventions – the move to the Globe reopened the possibility of dispensing with a dependence on improvisational clowning and raucous jigs that playgoers at the Curtain and Theatre had come to love and expect. With a move to the Globe now imminent, suppressed differences over these issues resurfaced.


The Chamberlain’s Men depended upon the thousands of Londoners willing to pay a penny or more, day in, day out, to see them perform. For that reason, every play they staged was written with a popular audience in mind and premièred in the public theatres. But the company’s long-term political security depended on patronage at court. Fortunately for London’s actors and playwrights, the Queen and her court enjoyed seeing plays; but Elizabeth didn’t want to pay to keep a retinue of actors for half a dozen or so command performances a year. She found it easier and much less expensive to reward the players with a gift of £10 each time they played at court (though her courtiers patronized the playhouses, Elizabeth herself never set foot in the public theatres). The fiction – which also happened to be the official position of the Privy Council – was that public performances were essentially dress rehearsals whereby the leading companies ‘might be the better enabled and prepared to show such plays before her Majesty as they shall be required at times meet and accustomed, to which end they have been chiefly licensed and tolerated’.


Shakespeare had had unparalleled success in pleasing both courtly and popular audiences over the past few years – but these admirers weren’t necessarily drawn to the same things in his plays. Ordinary Londoners flocked to The First Part of Henry the Fourth for its ‘humorous conceits’. The play continued to pack the theatre: ‘Let but Falstaff come, Hal, Poins, the rest,’ wrote Leonard Digges, and ‘you scarce shall have a room, / All is so pestered.’ Courtly audiences, in contrast, were more caught up in the same play’s flirtation with topical political concerns (which explains why the Lord Chamberlain asked Shakespeare and his fellow players to perform it when he had to entertain the Flemish ambassador).


Of late, Shakespeare and his fellow players had been invited to play at court far more than all other companies combined – fifteen times in the past three years (and his company also gave private performances for aristocrats, both in London or on tour at their great houses in the country). They were keenly aware of how important the support of the Queen, the Privy Council, and the Lord Chamberlain was – all the more so, given the uncertainty about how much longer Elizabeth would reign. They had to prepare against the possibility that only a single company might be protected under a future monarch or singled out for special status as the next ‘Queen’s’ or more likely ‘King’s Men’.


Just because Shakespeare was able to write plays that appealed to audiences across a wide social spectrum didn’t mean that he wasn’t frustrated by the limits this imposed on what he could write. As his understanding of drama continued to deepen, his desire to experiment – to push the bounds of comedy and tragedy, to wrestle with increasingly complicated social, historical and political issues, to render how inner states of experience could be conveyed, even to coin new words when English fell short of what his imagination conjured – jarred with the demands of writing plays that had to please all. Those intricate, brilliant sonnets he kept writing provided an outlet, certainly, but that wasn’t enough. Here, too, the move to the Globe, whose identity was as yet unfixed, offered a way forward.


The different responses of citizens and courtiers to his work were part of a larger problem Shakespeare faced, having to do with how he was seen as an artist. Though he had written an early Roman tragedy, eight path-breaking English histories, and some of the best comedies that the English stage had ever seen, it was only in the past year or so that contemporary critics had finally begun to acknowledge his talent, and even more frustrating that when they had done so it had invariably been his more sexually charged work – the two long poems Venus and Adonis and Lucrece, his love tragedy Romeo and Juliet and those sonnets that only a privileged few had read or heard – that had won their praise. In 1598, for example, the poet Richard Barnfield celebrated Shakespeare’s ‘honey-flowing vein’ in Lucrece and Venus and Adonis. John Weever likewise calls him ‘honey-tongued Shakespeare’ in a poetic tribute that year, where ‘fire-hot Venus’ and ‘rose-cheeked Adonis’ once again come in for special praise. Weever wanted to compliment the plays but was stumped when it came to their names: ‘Romeo, Richard; more whose names I know not.’ Shakespeare would not have been flattered.


The most striking praise for Shakespeare at this time appears in Francis Meres’s Palladis Tamia: Wit’s Treasury, also published in 1598. No contemporary writer comes off more favourably in Meres’s book than Shakespeare, though once again it’s Shakespeare the honey-tongued love poet that commands attention: ‘The sweet witty soul of Ovid lives in mellifluous and honeytongued Shakespeare,’ Meres writes, ‘witness his Venus and Adonis, his Lucrece, his sugared Sonnets among his private friends, etc.’ Meres predictably includes Shakespeare among ‘the most passionate among us to bewail and bemoan the perplexities of love’. Shakespeare must have been relieved to see this caricature balanced by attention to his plays, for Meres also writes: ‘As Plautus and Seneca are accounted the best for comedy and tragedy among the Latins, so Shakespeare among the English is the most excellent in both kinds for the stage. For comedy, witness his Gentlemen of Verona, his [Comedy of] Errors, his Love Labour’s Lost, his Love Labour’s Won, his Midsummer’s Night Dream and his Merchant of Venice. For tragedy, his Richard the Second, Richard the Third, Henry the Fourth, King John, Titus Andronicus, and his Romeo and Juliet.’ But only seven of Shakespeare’s plays had been published before 1598 and it wasn’t until that year that his name even appeared on a title page of a play.


The ‘English Ovid’ – the poet of the ‘heart-robbing line’, as an anonymous contemporary put it a couple of years later – was a hard reputation to shake off. The same anonymous writer even took Shakespeare to task for steering clear of more serious subject matter: ‘Could but a graver subject him content / Without love’s foolish lazy languishment.’ We know too little about the reading and book-buying habits of Elizabethans, but what evidence we have confirms that, especially for younger readers, it was Shakespeare’s amorous writing that held the greatest appeal. When, for example, the twenty-one-year-old Scottish poet William Drummond arrived in London in 1606, he kept a list of the titles of books he read. Drummond passed over Shakespeare’s histories and major tragedies in his first year in London in favour of Romeo and Juliet, A Midsummer Night’s Dream, Lucrece, and The Passionate Pilgrim. He may already have read Venus and Adonis, for it appears in a separate list of books he owned.


Shakespeare knew that his plays were valued differently at court, where he was recognized as a dramatist alert to the factional world of contemporary politics. Along with Richard the Second (whose deposition scene was never printed during Elizabeth’s lifetime), The First Part of Henry the Fourth had probably done the most to earn him this reputation and had even provoked an angry response from the new Lord Chamberlain, William Brooke, Lord Cobham, who briefly succeeded Shakespeare’s company’s patron, Henry Carey, Lord Hunsdon, in that office. Shakespeare had portrayed Cobham’s namesake, an earlier Lord Cobham named Sir John Oldcastle, as a riotous glutton – a portrait sharply at odds with Oldcastle’s reputation as one of England’s great proto-Protestant martyrs. It’s hard from this distance to determine whether the initial slight was intentional on Shakespeare’s part, an attempt to poke fun at a Puritan hero like Oldcastle or a sly dig that aligned Shakespeare with court factions opposed to Cobham and his son. It may simply have been that the prickly new Lord Chamberlain was chagrined that Shakespeare’s play about Oldcastle was performed at court under his direct supervision, and the offence was only taken at that time. The long and the short of it is that Shakespeare was ordered to change the name – and he did, turning ‘Oldcastle’ to ‘Falstaff’.


The antagonism did not stop there, however, suggesting that the slight wasn’t accidental. If Shakespeare had unknowingly stumbled and insulted the Cobhams the first time around, he probably did so deliberately in his next play, The Merry Wives of Windsor, which he interrupted The Second Part of Henry the Fourth to write. This time, while careful to call the hero Falstaff and not Oldcastle, Shakespeare gave the name Brook to the disguised, jealous and much mocked husband in the play. The family name of the Lord Cobhams was Brooke, and there could be no mistaking the insult – which the Master of the Revels, Edmund Tilney, who gave his stamp of approval to the play, must have winked at. And Shakespeare also included a gently mocking allusion in the Merry Wives to an actual German duke (named Mompelgard) who had been hovering around the English court waiting to be admitted to England’s Order of the Garter.


By 1598 Shakespeare’s relationship with the court had become increasingly reciprocal. He was not only a regular presence at court but also shaped how England’s leading families in turn gave voice to their political experiences and his words entered the court vocabulary as a shorthand for the complicated manoeuvring and gossip that defined court life. Tobie Matthew, for example, can write to Dudley Carleton: ‘Sir Francis Vere is coming towards the Low Countries, and Sir Alexander Ratcliffe and Sir Robert Drury with him. “Honour pricks them on, and the world thinks that honour will quickly prick them off again”’ – here paraphrasing Falstaff’s unvarnished truth about the dangers of pursuing honour in The First Part of Henry the Fourth: ‘Honour pricks me on. Yea, but how if honour prick me off when I come on? … What is that “honour”? Air’ (V, i, 129–35). The gist of Matthew’s multi-layered observation seems to be that while these ambitious men are spurred (‘pricked’) on by honour, the consensus at court is that this pursuit will prove disastrous (‘to be pricked off’ means ‘to be marked to die’).


It’s not the only such example committed to writing to survive (and who knows how many similar allusions in conversation went unrecorded?). At the end of February 1598 the Earl of Essex wrote to Secretary of State Cecil in France: ‘I pray you commend me also to Alexander Ratcliff and tell him for news his sister is married to Sir John Falstaff.’ This time, the allusion to Shakespeare’s character is part of an in-joke about Lord Cobham (now nicknamed ‘Falstaff’ for his family’s opposition to Shakespeare’s use of the name Oldcastle) playing the marital field, pursuing Ratcliff’s beautiful sister Margaret. Rumour had it that Cobham was also in pursuit of the merchant Sir John Spenser’s rich daughter. Essex was at court on 26 February 1598 – a day or so, perhaps, before he wrote this letter – where he might have seen the Chamberlain’s Men perform The Merry Wives of Windsor, in which a sexually rapacious Falstaff gets his comeuppance. Essex loathed Cobham and alluding to Shakespeare’s character was a way of tweaking him (by linking him with Falstaff’s multiple wooing in the play) while not alienating Cobham’s powerful brother-in-law, Cecil. A year later the Earl of Southampton’s wife could write to her husband concerning the latest gossip about Cobham’s sexual escapades in similarly veiled Shakespearean terms: ‘All the news I can send you that I think will make you merry is that I read in a letter from London that Sir John Falstaff is by his Mrs Dame Pintpot made father of a goodly miller’s thumb, a boy that is all head and very little body.’


No other Elizabethan playwright’s words or characters served as a similar kind of code for courtiers at this time because no other writer spoke to their preoccupations so directly as Shakespeare. It’s no surprise that the few references at this time to popular plays performed in aristocrats’ homes are limited to Shakespeare’s work, typically his histories. But there was no getting around the danger of alienating one powerful faction while pleasing another. Shakespeare walked a careful line, but as the Isle of Dogs episode made clear, the punishment for overstepping the bounds of the acceptable was severe. Trying to satisfy those at court introduced a different set of risks and constraints.


Shakespeare’s way out of the dilemma of writing plays as pleasing at court as they were at the public theatre was counterintuitive. Rather than searching for the lowest common denominator, he decided instead to write increasingly complicated plays that dispensed with easy pleasures and made both sets of playgoers work harder than they had ever worked before. It’s not something that he could have imagined doing five years earlier (when he lacked the authority and London audiences the sophistication to manage this). And this challenge to the status quo is probably not something that would have gone down well at the Curtain in 1599. But Shakespeare had a clear sense of what veteran playgoers were capable of and saw past their cries for old favourites and the stereotypes that branded them as shallow ‘groundlings’. He committed himself not only to writing great plays for the Globe but also to nurturing an audience comfortable with their increased complexity. Even before the Theatre was dismantled he must have been excitedly thinking ahead, realizing how crucial his first few plays at the Globe would be. It was a gamble, and there was the possibility that he might overreach and lose both popular and courtly audiences.


Until recently Shakespeare had been living in north London in rented quarters in St Helen’s Bishopsgate. It was a popular area for actors, just a short walk to Shoreditch and the Theatre and Curtain. It was also a comfortable and upmarket neighbourhood, home to musicians and merchants. However, by the time that construction on the Globe had begun, Shakespeare had moved to the Liberty of the Clink in Southwark, a rougher, raunchier neighbourhood outside the City limits, but very close to where the new theatre would stand. The rented quarters on Bankside – he had always rented in London, restlessly moving around, to the frustration of tax collectors – could only have added to the sense of a fresh start, his new surroundings contributing in unpredictable ways to the great surge of creative energies that followed.


As all this was going on, Shakespeare was trying to finish Henry the Fifth, which he had been thinking about for several years – as far back as 1596, when he had decided to stretch the plot of his main dramatic source, the anonymous Famous Victories of Henry the Fifth, to cover the two parts of Henry the Fourth as well as Henry the Fifth. And events, professional and political, kept overtaking the play. The scars of revision that Henry the Fifth bears – inconsistencies, locales that are specified then altered, characters that are introduced then mysteriously disappear, repetitions that seem to be ghostly remnants of earlier drafts – testify to the extent to which Shakespeare’s conception of the play kept changing. It seems to have taken him a lot longer than usual to complete and it’s unlikely that it was ready to be performed before late March 1599. Shakespeare knew by then that it would be the last play he would write for the loyal playgoers of the northern suburbs as well as one of the first that would enter the repertory of the Globe. As Shakespeare’s melancholy epilogue to Henry the Fifth acknowledges – with its backward glance at a decade’s worth of history plays with which he had entertained Shoreditch audiences – Henry the Fifth marked the end of one stage of his career and the uncharted beginning of another. 
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Will Kemp








1


A Battle of Wills





Late in the afternoon of Tuesday, 26 December 1598, two days before their fateful rendezvous at the Theatre, the Chamberlain’s Men made their way through London’s dark and chilly streets to Whitehall Palace to perform for the Queen. Elizabeth had returned to Whitehall in mid-November in time for her Accession Day celebrations. Whitehall, her only London residence, was also her favourite palace and she spent a quarter of her reign there, especially around Christmas. Elizabeth’s entrance followed traditional protocol: a mile out of town she was received by Lord Mayor Stephen Soame and his brethren, who were dressed in ‘velvet coats and chains of gold’. Elizabeth had come from Richmond Palace, where she had stayed but a month, having been at her palace at Nonsuch before that. Sanitation issues, the difficulties of feeding so many courtiers with limited local supplies, and perhaps restlessness too, made the Elizabethan court resemble a large-scale touring company that annually wound its way through the royal palaces of Whitehall, Greenwich, Richmond, St James, Hampton Court, Windsor, Oatlands and Nonsuch. But in contrast with the single cart that transported an itinerant playing troupe with its props and costumes, a train of several hundred wagons would set off for the next royal residence, transporting all that was needed for the Queen and seven hundred or so of her retainers to manage administrative and ceremonial affairs at a new locale.


A century later Whitehall would burn to the ground, leaving ‘nothing but walls and ruins’. Archaeological reconstruction would be pointless, for Whitehall was more than just a jumble of Gothic buildings already out of fashion by Shakespeare’s day. It was the epicentre of English power, beginning with the Queen and radiating out through her Privy Councillors and lesser courtiers. A cross between ancient Rome’s Senate and Coliseum, Whitehall was where ambassadors were entertained, bears baited, domestic and foreign policy determined, lucrative monopolies dispensed, Accession Day tilts run, and Shrovetide sermons preached. Above all, it was a rumour mill, where each royal gesture was endlessly dissected. When the Chamberlain’s Men performed at court, they added one more layer of spectacle.


Whitehall figured strongly enough in Shakespeare’s imagination to make a cameo appearance in his late play Henry the Eighth. When a minor courtier describes how after her coronation at Westminster Anne Bullen returned to ‘York Place’, he is sharply corrected: ‘You must no more call it York Place; that’s past, / For since the Cardinal fell, that title’s lost.’ Henry VIII coveted the fine building, evicted Cardinal Wolsey, and rechristened it: ‘’Tis now the King’s, and called Whitehall.’ The courtier who so carelessly spoke of ‘York Place’ apologetically explains:






         I know it,


But ’tis so lately altered that the old name


Is fresh about me.


     (IV, i, 95–9)








Whitehall’s identity was subject to royal whim, its history easily rewritten. That this exchange follows a hushed discussion of ‘falling stars’ at court makes its political edge that much sharper.


For a writer like Shakespeare, whose plays exhibit a greater fascination with courts than those of any other Elizabethan playwright, visits to Whitehall were inspiring. The palace was a far cry from anything he had ever experienced in his native Stratford-upon-Avon, which extant wills and town records portray as a drab backwater, devoid of high culture. There was little touring theatre, few books, hardly any musical instruments, no paintings to speak of, the aesthetic monotony broken only by painted cloths that adorned interiors (like the eight that had hung in Shakespeare’s mother’s home in Wilmcote). It had not always been this way. Vivid medieval paintings of the Passion and the Last Judgement had once decorated the walls of Stratford’s church, but they had been whitewashed by Protestant reformers shortly before Shakespeare was born.


Whitehall had everything Stratford lacked. It housed the greatest collection of international art in the realm, its ‘spacious rooms’ hung ‘with Persian looms’, its treasures ‘fetched from the richest cities of proud Spain’ and beyond. For an Englishman who (like his Queen) had never left England’s shores, it offered a rare opportunity to see work produced by foreign artisans. A short detour, up a staircase into the privy gallery overlooking the tiltyard, led Shakespeare into a breathtaking space. Its ceiling was covered in gold and its walls were lined with extraordinary paintings, including a portrait of Moses said to be ‘a striking likeness’. Near it hung a ‘most beautifully painted picture on glass showing thirty-six incidents of Christ’s Passion’. But the most eye-catching painting in the passageway was the portrait of young Edward VI. Those approaching it for the first time found that ‘the head, face and nose appear so long and misformed that they do not seem to represent a human being’. Installed on the right side of the painting was an iron bar with a plate attached to it. Visitors were encouraged to extend the bar and view the portrait through a small hole or ‘O’ cut in the plate: to their surprise, ‘the ugly face changed into a well-formed one’.


A few years earlier this famous picture had inspired Shakespeare’s lines about point-of-view in Richard the Second:






Like perspectives, which rightly gazed upon


Show nothing but confusion, eyed awry


Distinguish form.


    (II, ii, 18–20)








It may also have inspired a similar reflection in Henry the Fifth about seeing ‘perspectively’ (V, ii, 321). What the Chorus in this play calls the ‘wooden O’, the theatre itself, operates much like this Whitehall portrait: its lens is capable of giving shape and meaning to the world, but only if playgoers make the necessary imaginative effort.


Leaving this picture gallery, Shakespeare would next have entered the long privy gallery range that led past the Privy Council chamber, where Elizabeth’s will was translated into government policy. The Christmas holiday had not disrupted the councillors’ labours; seven of them had met there that day, ordering, among other things, that warm clothing be secured for miserably equipped English troops facing a bitter Irish winter. The councillors adjourned in time for that evening’s entertainment and resumed their deliberations the following morning.


The winding corridor next led past Elizabeth’s private quarters, including her bedchamber, library and the rooms in which she dressed and dined. When Elizabeth was not residing at Whitehall these rooms were open for viewing. Contemporary reports of their splendours give some inkling of power on display. The ceiling of her bedchamber was gilded, though the room itself was dark, with only a single window. Elizabeth’s exotic bath attracted considerable  notice, especially for how ‘the water pours from oyster shells and different kinds of rock’. The apartments also held organs and virginals that the Queen herself played, as well as ‘numerous cunningly wrought clocks in all sizes’; and, of course, the palace held the Queen’s fabulously expensive and ornate wardrobe, of extraordinary interest to a player like Shakespeare whose company invested so much of its capital on lavish costumes.


The Queen’s library also interested Shakespeare, stocked as it was with books in Greek, Latin, Italian, French and English, along with some of Elizabeth’s own manuscripts. This wasn’t just show: William Camden records that Elizabeth ‘either read or wrote something every day’ and that in 1598 she ‘turned into the English tongue the greatest part of Horace’s De Arte Poetica and a little book of Plutarch’s De Curiositate, and wrote them with her own hand, though the rebellion in Ireland now flamed forth dangerously’. A monarch who wrote every day must have been an especially discriminating critic and perhaps better disposed than most to a playwright who did the same.


As he neared the room in which he would perform that evening, Shakespeare first had to pass the privy chamber (which housed Hans Holbein’s famous mural of Henry VII, Henry VIII, and their wives Elizabeth of York and Jane Seymour) and then the large and lofty presence chamber. This was the inner sanctum: only Elizabeth’s most intimate circle, her most favoured courtiers, were permitted into the privy chamber, and the distinction between those in and those out was clear-cut. It was decorated with ‘a gilded ceiling’ and ‘pictures of the wars [Elizabeth] ha[d] waged’.


The overall impression, as one foreign visitor wrote in 1600, was that Whitehall was ‘a place which fills one with wonder’. In this respect, it resembled those other great wonder-producing sites of Elizabethan England, the public theatres. Like the theatres, it contained space for display as well as a backstage, with secret areas off-limits to spectators that added to its mystery. There was as little concern for the mixing of artistic genres at court as there was in the playhouses. Visitors to Whitehall recorded their impressions of some of its more memorable artefacts, including a bust of Attila the Hun, a picture of ‘a cripple being carried on a blind man’s shoulders’, a Dutch still life, a group of portraits of the leading divines of the Protestant Reformation, a wind-up clock of ‘an Ethiop riding upon a rhinoceros’, a ‘genealogical table of the kings of England’, a ‘large looking-glass with a silk cover’, a portrait of Julius Caesar (which surely caught Shakespeare’s attention), a painting of Lucrece (which no doubt did as well), a sundial ‘in the form of a monkey’, a needlework map of Britain, a ‘description of the New World on two boards with maps of the same parts of the New World alongside’, and a mother-of-pearl organ bearing an inscription calling England’s virgin Queen ‘another Mary’ (an association sure to annoy Elizabeth’s Puritan critics). Other objects also bore mottos or inscriptions, including one that read: ‘There are three things which destroyed the sovereignty of Rome: Hidden Hatred, Youthful Council, Self-Interest.’ A good deal of the art was intended to flatter Elizabeth, such as the picture of ‘Juno, Pallas Athena, and Venus together with Queen Elizabeth’.


Shakespeare would have appreciated the extent to which Whitehall was ultimately about competing, contested histories. Allusions to the Virgin Mary kept company with portraits of Reformation worthies. Fantasies of distant worlds – like the Ethiop astride a rhinoceros – fought for attention with state-of-the-art maps and globes for extending the reach of English trade and colonization. Sundials shared space with the latest in Continental clock technology. The riches contained in the palace were distantly related to those found in that sixteenth-century phenomenon called the Wunderkammer, or wonder-cabinet. Ancestor of the modern museum, the wonder-cabinet was usually a room set aside to display exotic objects. The finest of these in London probably belonged to Walter Cope, a merchant-adventurer and a member of Elizabeth’s Society of Antiquaries. During his London visit in 1599 Thomas Platter visited Cope’s wonder-cabinet, ‘stuffed with queer foreign objects in every corner’: an African charm made of teeth, the bauble and bell of Henry VIII’s fool, an Indian stone axe and canoe, a chain made of monkey teeth, a Madonna constructed of Indian feather, a unicorn’s tail, and shoes from around the globe. In another, unnamed house of curios on London Bridge, Platter even saw ‘a large live camel’.


What distinguishes Whitehall from the jumble of the wonder-cabinet is that the objects in the latter were connected only by their strangeness and capacity to produce amazement. Whitehall’s contents, in contrast, comprised a protean work-in-progress, its objects, rightly interpreted, conveying a complex narrative of dynastic power and political intrigue. No room in the palace better exemplified this than the shield gallery, a long hall overlooking the Thames, through which visitors arriving by boat passed on their way into the court. This gallery was crammed with hundreds of imprese – paste-board shields on which were painted pictures and enigmatic Latin mottos.


This strange practice originated under Elizabeth, who required every knight participating in the celebratory royal birthday and Accession Day tilts to present her with a paste-board shield. The pressure to produce just the right impresa was a burden for the knights, some of whom sought out the help of poets and artists. Unlike an emblem, which also combined word and image, the impresa was highly personal, its message, like that of a sonnet, bound up in the inscrutable relationship of speaker and object of veneration. In this case, the venerated object was Elizabeth herself, and the message of the impresa a courtier’s attempt to flatter or cajole the Queen. The shield gallery might be said to contain the political history of Elizabeth’s reign, the cumulative ups and downs of political aspirants. In its reliance on the enigmatic combination of word and image, and on wonder and interpretive skill, it embodied more than any other room at Whitehall the extent to which the physical world of the court resembled the imaginative world of the stage.


No doubt when Shakespeare entered the shield gallery his eye was drawn to his own anonymous contributions. He was obviously skilled in the genre and would later advertise his talents in Pericles, which contains a wonderful scene in which six knights display their imprese; Pericles’ own shield depicts ‘A withered branch, that’s only green at top; / The motto, In hac spe vivo’ – ‘In this hope I live’ (II, ii, 43–44). For obvious reasons, few records survive of who ghost-wrote imprese, though there’s a bookkeeper’s entry which records that Shakespeare was paid forty-four shillings for providing the impresa that the Earl of Rutland displayed at King James’s Accession Day tournament in March 1613. That was a lot of money for so few words. And Shakespeare was responsible for just the motto; his fellow actor Richard Burbage, an accomplished artist, was paid handsomely ‘for painting and making it’. It’s highly unlikely that this commission at the very end of his career was Shakespeare’s first freelance job. Who better, after all, to give voice to a courtier’s unrequited desires?


Shakespeare’s destination at Whitehall was the great chamber, also known as the guard or watching chamber, where the Chamberlain’s Men were to perform that evening. It had fallen to them, as the pre-eminent company in the land, to play the first night of the Christmas holidays, as they had now done for five years running. But they couldn’t afford to rest on their laurels: they had played three out of five times the previous Christmas season, yet had been responsible for all four court performances the Christmas before that. This season they were sharing the stage with the Admiral’s Men, with two performances each. It was not a reassuring trend.


The great chamber was the most intimate playing space at Whitehall. Sixty feet long by thirty feet wide, with a twenty-foot ceiling, it had a wooden floor and a fireplace, and was decorated with woven tapestries. The acoustics were probably much better than those at the next most attractive playing space, the great hall, just beyond it and facing the chapel, which was considerably larger and had a high ceiling and a stone floor. A year earlier, a French ambassador had recorded in his diary that at the Whitehall Christmas celebrations, ‘they began to dance in the presence of the Queen and to act comedies, which was done in the great chamber, and the Queen’s throne was set up there and attended by a hundred gentlemen, very well ordered, the ladies also, and the whole court’. The French ambassador does not mention it, but there were probably a few children there too. Lady Anne Clifford, who was a girl of nine or so at this time, recalled in later years how, during Elizabeth’s reign, at ‘Christmas I used to go much to the court and sometimes did I lie at my Aunt Warwick’s chamber on a pallet’. It’s probable that her Aunt Warwick maintained a company of players earlier in the decade and it would be fitting if she secured a place for her young niece at performances by the leading players of the day.


If the great chamber was to be readied for dancing after the play – including energetic galliards that would have required a good deal of space – the audience, excepting Elizabeth on her throne, would have been seated on easily cleared upholstered benches or stools (or alternatively, as on other occasions, arranged in a shallow bank of temporary seating built against the wall). Many hands pitched in to make the performance a success. The Office of the Revels supervised the lighting and scenery, while the Sergeant Painter and his staff took care of any painting or decoration the performance required. The Chamberlain’s staff of ushers, porters, and grooms oversaw cleaning and heating the chamber, as well as seating and decorating. It would have been a tight squeeze to accommodate all those gathered to see the play in the great chamber. John Chamberlain writes at Christmas time 1601: ‘[There] has been such a small court this Christmas that the guard were not troubled to keep doors at the plays and pastimes.’ If this Christmas were more typical, the Queen’s guards would have had their hands full.


There was a pecking order about who sat where during performances in the great chamber. This was not the public playhouse, where money could secure a better seat. An excruciating example of how social hierarchy was maintained survives in a letter from a secretary to the Earl of Essex named Edward Jones. Jones, who had married a woman of higher social station, was spotted at Christmas 1596 by the Lord Chamberlain, Cobham, alongside his pregnant wife, in a place reserved for those of higher rank. Shakespeare, whose company was the only one to perform at court that Christmas, may have witnessed the humiliation that followed: Cobham pointed his white staff of office at Jones, publicly berated him and told him to get back to where he belonged. Jones wrote to Cobham a few days later, complaining: ‘That which grieveth me most is the public disgrace which your Lordship gave at the play on Sunday night, not only before many of my friends that thought your Lordship did me wrong, but in the hearing of my wife, who being with child did take it so ill as she wept.’ Jones protested that he was just checking on his pregnant wife, not presuming to sit where he didn’t belong, and didn’t deserve to be called ‘saucy fellow’ and ‘other words of disgrace’.


If, as is likely, the Chamberlain’s Men presented their resident playwright’s most recent work at court during the Christmas season of 1598, they would be staging The Second Part of Henry the Fourth and Much Ado about Nothing. Against this possible line-up the Admiral’s Men were offering relatively lighter fare: two Robin Hood plays co-authored by Anthony Munday and Henry Chettle (Chettle was paid in late November, 1598, ‘for mending of Robin Hood for the court’ – probably inserting changes in the text requested by the Master of the Revels, Edmund Tilney). Tilney, whose responsibilities also included ‘calling together of sundry players and perusing, fitting and reforming their matters otherwise not convenient to be shown before her Majesty’, would have carefully reviewed every play to be performed at Christmas no later than November, this time not simply vetting the script but scrutinizing a dress performance at the Revels Office to ensure that nothing visual or verbal would give offence.


If the Chamberlain’s Men performed The Second Part of Henry the Fourth this Christmas, their timing couldn’t have been better. Its opening Prologue is spoken by a character named ‘Rumour’, a familiar presence at court: ‘Open your ears, for which of you will stop / The vent of hearing when loud Rumour speaks?’:






Upon my tongues continual slanders ride,


The which in every language I pronounce,


Stuffing the ears of men with false reports.


I speak of peace while covert enmity,


Under the smile of safety, wounds the world.


    (I, i, 1–10)








Rumour continues with an image that Shakespeare liked well enough to rework and improve in Hamlet’s rebuke to Rosencrantz and Guildenstern: ‘Will you play upon this pipe? … You would play upon me, you would seem to know my stops’ (III, ii, 350–65):






         Rumour is a pipe,


Blown by surmises, jealousies, conjectures,


And of so easy and so plain a stop


That the blunt monster with uncounted heads,


The still-discordant wav’ring multitude,


Can play upon it.


    (I, i, 15–20)








These words would have struck home at Whitehall that late December day, as rumours of great import swirled around the anxious court: would there be peace or war with Spain? and would the wavering Earl of Essex finally agree to lead an English army to suppress an Irish rebellion? 




*





When the Chamberlain’s Men had staged The Second Part of Henry the Fourth at the Curtain, the play had ended with an epilogue spoken by Will Kemp. Characters who deliver Shakespeare’s epilogues tend to straddle fictional and real worlds and this play’s ending is no exception. As the fifth act comes to a close, Sir John Falstaff – played by Kemp – is hauled off to the Fleet Prison and it looks for once as if Falstaff, that great escape artist, will not be able to wriggle out of trouble. But Kemp suddenly dashes back onstage. A moment or two passes before playgoers realize that the play really is over and that Kemp is delivering an epilogue not as Falstaff but more or less as himself (a slippery distinction, since Kemp always played Kemp whatever role he was assigned):




If my tongue cannot entreat you to acquit me, will you command me to use my legs? And yet that were but light payment, to dance out of your debt. But a good conscience will make any possible satisfaction, and so would I. All the gentlewomen here have forgiven me. If the gentlemen will not, then the gentlemen do not agree with the gentlewomen, which was never seen before in such an assembly.


One word more, I beseech you. If you be not too much cloyed with fat meat, our humble author will continue the story, with Sir John in it, and make you merry with fair Katharine of France. Where, for anything I know, Falstaff shall die of a sweat, unless already ’a be killed with your hard opinions; for Oldcastle died a martyr, and this is not the man. My tongue is weary; when my legs are too, I will bid you good night.





The witty epilogue manages to do several things at once. Kemp’s repeated mention of his legs and dancing signals that a jig – a bawdy skit with dancing that concluded every publicly staged play, and at which Kemp excelled – is about to begin. Kemp also conveys the news that Shakespeare, ‘our humble author’, promises to ‘continue the story’, so his admirers can rest assured they’ll be seeing him again soon. This is the only time Shakespeare ever shared with his audience what he planned to write next – a play that will feature Sir John Falstaff as well as Henry’s bride-to-be, Katharine of France. The work-in-progress is clearly Henry the Fifth, capstone to the historical sequence that had begun four years earlier with Richard the Second and continued in the two parts of Henry the Fourth. Tagged on to the end of the epilogue is a forced apology for using Oldcastle’s name in The First Part of Henry the Fourth (hence the disclaimer that ‘Oldcastle died a martyr, and this is not the man’).


This epilogue wouldn’t do at court, where plays did not end with ribald jigs. So, like Hamlet scribbling ‘some dozen or sixteen lines’ to be inserted into ‘The Mousetrap’, Shakespeare appended roughly the same number of lines to the special Whitehall performance. Once past the opening apology, Shakespeare breaks new ground in this revised epilogue. The speech is brassy and confident and may even have caught his fellow players off guard. Taking centre stage, Shakespeare delivers his own lines (‘what I have to say is of my own making’). It’s the only time in his plays we hear him speak for and as himself:




First, my fear; then, my curtsy; last my speech. My fear is your displeasure; my curtsy, my duty; and my speech, to beg your pardons. If you look for a good speech now, you undo me, for what I have to say is of my own making, and what indeed I should say will, I doubt, prove my own marring. But to the purpose, and so to the venture. Be it known to you, as it is very well, I was lately here in the end of a displeasing play, to pray your patience for it, and to promise a better. I meant indeed to pay you with this, which if like an ill venture it come unluckily home, I break, and you, my gentle creditors, lose. Here I promised you I would be, and here I commit my body to your mercies. Bate me some and I will pay you some and, as most debtors do, promise you infinitely. And so I kneel down before you; but indeed, to pray for the Queen.





It’s a deft piece of work. This time around there’s no mention of what the next play will be about and no promise that Kemp will return as Falstaff. The apology for Oldcastle in The First Part of Henry the Fourth (perhaps that or the Merry Wives was ‘the displeasing play’ he never quite gets around to naming) is nicely finessed, as Shakespeare offers in compensation the Falstaff play they have just applauded as a way of making amends. Beyond this point, the epilogue’s initial acceptance of social deference – all that begging and curtsying – gives way to Shakespeare’s novel suggestion that playwright and playgoers are bound in a partnership, sharers in a venture. Those in the audience alert to the echoes of Shakespeare’s recent drama may have picked up on key words here – ‘venture’ and ‘credit’, ‘bating’ and ‘paying’, ‘promising’ and ‘breaking’ – central to his play about the new world of venture capital, The Merchant of Venice. If Shakespeare offers himself as merchant-adventurer, his plays as treasure, and his audience as investors, then it follows that an ‘ill venture’ which breaks or bankrupts him will prove as costly to his creditors.


The analogy between a theatrical joint-stock company like the Chamberlain’s Men and joint-stock mercantile companies is not far-fetched. Both kinds of joint-stock operations were great levellers, the wealth that they produced transforming long-standing social boundaries. Shakespeare, who had recently translated his theatrical earnings into a coat of arms and joined the ranks of the ‘gentle creditors’, understood that money helped secure not just property but gentility too. For Shakespeare and the Chamberlain’s Men, the rewards of venturing were as palpable as the perils of breaking. Veteran courtiers knew how many talented theatrical companies had come and gone: in the past decade the Queen’s Men, Sussex’s Men, Pembroke’s Men, and Strange’s Men had all been applauded at court and had all subsequently broken up. The threat of financial ruin through the loss of a permanent playing space in the city was an actor-sharer’s worst nightmare.


When Shakespeare describes his audience as ‘gentle creditors’, he means not only that they provide the credit or licence to let him write what he wants, but also that they credit or believe in him. Pursuing the implications of this metaphor, he redefines the terms of their understanding: if they bate him some – that is, if they cut him some slack – he will make it up to them in instalments; and, playing upon how debtors promise infinitely (that is, promise the world), Shakespeare says he will do the same. Like most debtors, when he says ‘infinitely’ he also means it in the sense of ‘indefinitely’. Accept his terms, then, and they’ll be repaid with immortal plays for a long time to come. The version of the epilogue spoken by Kemp described ‘our humble author’ sticking to a successful if by now familiar formula for success; the substitute one that Shakespeare himself delivered on the eve of 1599 couldn’t be more different. It’s the closest we get in his work to Shakespeare revealing his determination to move in a new direction, one in which he will demand more of his audience, his fellow players, and himself.


What had begun with Shakespeare modestly curtsying to his audience ends with what looks like a second act of deference as the epilogue comes to a close. Kneeling in prayer to conclude a play (itself an outworn Elizabethan convention) would seem to restore the world of deference and hierarchy rather than collaboration and mutuality. But Shakespeare – player and gentleman – catches himself and explains to his audience that while it may look as if he’s kneeling ‘before them’, he’s not; he’s kneeling in prayer for Elizabeth, in deference to whom, now, one expects, every other subject in the room scrambles to follow suit. Relative to the monarch, debtors and creditors, servants and lords, players and patrons – who are all falling to their knees to join in this prayer for the Queen – are on the same level after all.


This unusual epilogue survives by accident – or rather, due to carelessness. The Second Part of Henry the Fourth was published less than two years after this. When the manuscript was passed along to the printing house, both versions of the epilogue were bundled with it. The compositor setting type, unsure of what to do, printed both but left an extra bit of space between the Whitehall and Curtain versions. Had he thought about it more, he might have realized that it made no sense for the speaker to kneel to the Queen midway through the epilogue and then spring up again. When the compositor of the 1623 Folio came upon this crux he too decided not to choose between the two but also melded them into a single epilogue, though he at least tried to mend things by moving the prayer to the Queen to the end of the epilogue. Bizarrely, modern-day editors, who ought to know better, have followed suit, leaving the confusion intact and obscuring why and how Shakespeare redirects his art at this time.


The rupture with Will Kemp hinted at in the revised epilogue became total by the early months of 1599, when Kemp walked (or was shoved) away from his partnership in the Globe and almost surely in the company as well, enabling Shakespeare and the other principals to enrich themselves by carving up his share. The full story of why Kemp changed his mind about the Globe and the Chamberlain’s Men will never be known. Given the money he was sacrificing by leaving the partnership, the gulf between how he and others saw his role in the playing company and at the Globe must have been unbridgeable. That Shakespeare chose to cut his comic star out of Henry the Fifth defied expectations, for audiences familiar with stage versions of this story took it for granted that they’d be seeing a clown. Whether it precipitated Kemp’s decision or was made in response to it is hard to tell, though I suspect the former. Kemp’s great predecessor Dick Tarlton had starred as the lead clown, Derick (and perhaps as Oldcastle too), in Shakespeare’s main dramatic source, The Famous Victories of Henry the Fifth. It would have been a milestone in Kemp’s career, at the height of his popularity, to have surpassed Tarlton with his own comic turn in Henry the Fifth.


Since at least the eighteenth century critics have struggled to make sense of Shakespeare’s change of heart about Falstaff. Why would he abandon one of his great creations – especially after promising that we’d see Falstaff again? Justifying this on artistic grounds wasn’t easy, though Samuel Johnson did his best to exonerate Shakespeare: perhaps he ‘could contrive no train of adventures suitable to his character, or could match him with no companions likely to quicken his humour, or could open no new vein of pleasantry’. The excuse – that Shakespeare lacked invention – is desperate, and you get the sense that Johnson himself doesn’t believe it. What Johnson found especially unforgivable was that Shakespeare went back on his word: ‘Let meaner authors learn from this example, that it is dangerous to sell the bear which is not yet hunted, to promise to the public what they have not written.’ Johnson apparently hadn’t considered reasons for Shakespeare’s decision that had nothing to do with character or plot but rather with Kemp and clowning. The parting of ways between Shakespeare and Kemp – ironically if unintentionally mirrored in Hal’s icy repudiation of Falstaff – was a rejection not only of a certain kind of comedy but also a declaration that from here on in it was going to be a playwright’s and not an actor’s theatre, no matter how popular the actor.


Kemp and Shakespeare made an odd pair. Older by a decade or so, Kemp was also the tougher and more physically imposing of the two. He was a powerfully built man, possessed of extraordinary stamina, yet exceptionally graceful. (To play the fat Falstaff he had to wear specially made ‘giant hose’). A woodcut executed in 1600 – the only contemporary portrait we have of Kemp – depicts from the neck up a man well into middle age, with a grizzled beard and longish hair. But the rest of his body is that of a much younger man – of average height but muscular, sturdy, erect, light on his feet, dressed in the traditional garb of the morris dancer. Kemp would respond to the break-up with the Chamberlain’s Men by dancing his way ‘out of the world’ (punningly, out of the Globe), out of London, towards Norwich in early 1600, in a morris dance lasting a few weeks, reconnecting with his roots in a solo performance. His demeanour underscored another fundamental difference with Shakespeare, having to do with class. He usually played lower-class country fellows like Bottom, Costard, Peter and Launcelot. Even in the role of the aristocratic Falstaff, Kemp played a man of the people and wore a workingman’s cap. For Kemp, this was more than a role, it was a conviction, one that only increased his popular appeal. He loathed social climbers and went out of his way to praise those who didn’t stand upon rank. No doubt Shakespeare’s pursuit of gentility rubbed Kemp the wrong way.


Kemp was a veteran performer, his career going back at least to the mid-1580s, when he had been a member of the leading company of the time, Leicester’s Men. They had been an itinerant company, playing at court, in the English countryside, and on the Continent, including Denmark (Kemp could have regaled Shakespeare with stories of playing before the Danish court at Elsinore). Shakespeare and Kemp may have first crossed paths in 1587, when Leicester’s Men passed through Stratford-upon-Avon. If Shakespeare, then in his early twenties, was contemplating a life in the theatre, watching Leicester’s Men perform in his home town might have been a deciding factor. Though they may both have belonged to Strange’s Men by 1594, the first time their names are officially linked is a year later, 1595, when the two, along with Richard Burbage, are recorded as receiving payments for court performances by the newly formed Chamberlain’s Men. The up-and-coming Burbage was by now a promising actor and Shakespeare emerging as an important playwright and poet; but at that time their reputations were easily overshadowed by Kemp’s. There could have been no doubt in Kemp’s mind in 1594 when he and Shakespeare became fellow sharers, or even in 1599 when his fame was at its height, who would be remembered as the greatest name in Elizabethan theatre.


Gentle as Shakespeare was reputed to be, he was not pliant, especially if that meant subordinating his artistic vision and will to the desires of the extraordinary actors for whom he wrote. It’s tempting to read one of the very few contemporary anecdotes about Shakespeare as a gloss on this aspect of his relationship with his charismatic fellow players. This time, however, it’s Richard Burbage that Shakespeare displaces in another act of substitution, a curious reversal of the bed-trick that figures so largely in his comedies. The story appears in the journal of John Manningham, a law student who jotted it down in March 1602 (though the apocryphal story may have already been in circulation for a few years):




Upon a time when Burbage played Richard III, there was a citizen grown so far in liking with him, that before she went from the play she appointed him to come that night unto her by the name of Richard III. Shakespeare, overhearing their conclusion, went before, was entertained, and at his game ere Burbage came. Then message being brought that Richard III was at the door, Shakespeare caused return to be made that William the Conqueror was before Richard III.





In the age-old struggle for primacy between writer and actor, this round goes to the dramatist, who rewrites the scene, leaving his leading man out in the cold while enjoying his fan’s embrace. The protean Shakespeare also gets in the last word.


The parting of ways between Kemp and Shakespeare was less than friendly (a year later, having left the company, Kemp was still muttering about ‘Shakerags’). Even if personal differences could be overcome, philosophical ones over the role of the clown and the nature of comedy could not. Performers like Kemp were more than jokesters and at stake was more than simply entertaining audiences. Clowns – closer to what we would call comedians – traced their lineage to older, popular forms of festive entertainment, to the Lord of Misrule, to the Vice figure of morality drama, to traditions of minstrelsy, rusticity, song and dance. Their origins also encouraged leading clowns to think of themselves as the true stars of their companies. It was their job to banter with members of the audience, especially at the ends of scenes, and to stray from the script when occasion presented itself. They weren’t intended to be believable characters – that is to say, like real people – not even when playing fully fleshed-out roles like Falstaff. This was because leading clowns were also always playing themselves – or, rather, the stage identity they so carefully crafted.


Playgoers were not the only ones who never forgot that Kemp was Kemp. Even Shakespeare occasionally forgot to distinguish actor and role. When he imagined the clown Peter’s entrance in Romeo and Juliet, he writes ‘Enter Will Kemp’. The same holds true in Act 4 of Much Ado about Nothing, where instead of the character ‘Dogberry’ he writes ‘Kemp’. What’s so striking is that he rarely does this for other actors in the company. The speech prefixes to the quarto of The Second Part of Henry the Fourth similarly reveal traces of what Shakespeare was imagining as he wrote. There’s an otherwise inexplicable stage entrance for someone named ‘Will’ in Act 2, scene 4, which makes no sense other than as an early entry for Will Kemp as Falstaff. Editors who don’t accept this are forced to invent a new character, ‘Will’ or ‘William’, who is never named onstage, is then given lines assigned to others, and for whom a speedy exit is invented as well. Far more likely is that Shakespeare, as elsewhere in these drafts, couldn’t help but think of Will Kemp as Will Kemp, whatever his role. As Shakespeare found himself moving steadily at this time towards a more naturalistic drama in which characters like Rosalind and Hamlet feel real, the traditional clown had become an obstacle.


No less gnawing a problem for Shakespeare was the clown’s afterpiece, the jig. It may be hard for us to conceive of the conclusion of Romeo and Juliet – with the image of the dead lovers fresh in our minds – immediately followed by a bawdy song and dance, but Elizabethan audiences demanded it. Jigs were basically semi-improvisational one-act plays, running to a few hundred lines, usually performed by four actors. They were rich in clowning, repartee and high-spirited dancing and song, and written in traditional ballad form. Though nominally independent of the plays that preceded them, they were an extension of the clown’s part. If comedies were about love, jigs were about what happened after marriage – adultery, deception and irrepressible sexual desire. Jigs – anarchic and libidinal – were wildly popular because they tapped into parts of everyday experience usually left untouched in the world of the play. As such, they provided a counterpoint to the fragile closure of romantic comedy and to the high seriousness and finality of tragedy.
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